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CLOSING LEGAL SUBMISSIONS ON BEHALF OF PACIFIC PARK 

INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

May it please the Panel: 

INTRODUCTION 

1 Pacific Park Investments Limited (Pacific Park) is a submitter (3459) 

and further submitter (5045) on Stage 3 of the Christchurch 

Replacement District Plan.    

2 Pacific Park’s submission was confined to objectives and policies 

relating to Entertainment and Hospitality Precincts and the sale of 

alcohol.  In conjunction with those, Pacific Park submitted the 

replacement District Plan should include a definition of “late-night 

sale of alcohol” as follows: 

The sale of alcohol until 4.00am.  

3 This definition was simply intended to reflect the maximum hours 

for sale of alcohol in the Sale and Supply of Alcohol Act 2012 and to 

be an upper limit. 

4 Following the Chapter 13 hearing the Panel issued a Minute which 

stated Objective 15.1.5 would read: 

a) A range of commercial, community, cultural, residential and guest 

accommodation activities are supported in the Central City to 

enhance its viability, vitality and the efficiency of resources, while 

encouraging activities in specific areas by: 

… 

 iv. Encouraging entertainment and hospitality activity (including 

late-night trading) in defined precincts and managing the extent to 

which these activities occur outside the precincts. 

 

5 Given the term “late-night sale of alcohol” is now not used in 

Objective 15.1.5, Pacific Park seeks a definition of the words “late-

night” or “late night trading” instead.  The definition sought is “until 

4.00am” or “up to 4.00am” or similar words to make it clear that 

decision makers who use their discretion in a particular case to 

grant a resource consent enabling sale of alcohol to 3.00am for 

example would be acting in a manner consistent with the Objective.   

6 The remainder of these submissions address why the arguments 

against including a definition are not valid, why a definition is 

required, and cover in more detail what that definition should be. 

7 Pacific Park has also filed closing submissions on both Chapter 6 

(General Rules) and Chapter 13 (Central City), and those 

submissions should be read in conjunction with these.  

SUBMISSIONS AGAINST INCLUDING A DEFINITION 

8 CCC, the Crown and CDHB have adopted a variety of arguments 

against the inclusion of a definition of “late night” at various points 
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throughout the Chapters 6, 13 and 2 proceedings. They can be 

grouped into four main contentions: 

8.1 The Local Alcohol Policy (LAP) is the appropriate place for 

controls on hours of sale of alcohol to be included, and any 

such controls in the Replacement District Plan would create 

inconsistencies with the LAP;1 

8.2 To include a definition would be inconsistent with the CCRP, 

which is “purposefully silent on hours of operation and sale of 

alcohol in these Precincts”, and which distinguishes, in terms 

of noise, different anticipated environments within the 

Entertainment and Hospitality Precincts themselves;2 

8.3 A definition is not necessary, on the basis that what is ‘late 

night’ is context specific and depends on proximity to 

residential areas;3 and 

8.4 People may seek consent for hours beyond 11.00pm and find 

policy support for it.4 

9 Pacific Park submits that the first three of these arguments are 

wrong, and that the fourth is precisely the reason for Pacific Park’s 

submission namely to make it clear from an application for resource 

consent for example to allow a bar in Victoria Street to sell alcohol 

until 3.00am (as they currently do) is consistent with the Central 

City Objective 15.1.5 and other provisions where the phrase is used.  

LAP 

10 As has been made clear throughout the Chapter 6 and 13 hearings, 

the current provisional Local Alcohol Policy (pLAP) is of no legal 

effect.  Neither should it be a relevant consideration for this Panel; 

as recognised by CCC the pLAP is currently under appeal and it is 

not clear when an LAP (not necessarily the current pLAP) “will come 

into force or what form it will take”.5  

11 This was also accepted by Mr Dodd for the CDHB:6 

MS APPLEYARD: Are you aware of the legal status of the Local 

Alcohol Policy?  

MR DODD: Yes, I am, it is provisional. 

                                            
1 See for instance: Rebuttal evidence of Alison McLaughlin dated 10 March 2016 (General 
Rules hearing), para 6.4; Evidence of Alison McLaughlin dated 4 February 2016 (General 
Rules hearing), para 59.4; Rebuttal evidence of Mark Stevenson dated 26 January 2016 
(Central City hearing), para 12.5; Andrew Willis rebuttal evidence dated 26 January 
2016 (Central City hearing), para 7.3 

2 Andrew Willis rebuttal evidence dated 26 January 2016 (Central City hearing), para 4.1 

3 Definitions transcript p83 

4 Rebuttal evidence of Mark Stevenson dated 26 January 2016 (Central City hearing), 
para 12.6 

5 General Rules transcript p907 

6 Central City transcript p 163-164 
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MS APPLEYARD:  And have you looked at the Sale and Supply 

of Liquor Act and seen what that means in terms of its 

weight? 

MR DODD:  Well in terms of its weight I can tell you I have 

not been through - - -  

MS APPLEYARD:  Legally, legally. 

MR DODD:  No, I cannot comment purely legally but I have 

been through the adoption process in Waimakariri and we are 

going through similar stages in Selwyn and Ashburton, so I 

have seen the process at large. 

MS APPLEYARD:  It is a provisional policy yet to be heard so 

can you explain to the Panel what weight or relevance it has 

to this process? 

MR DODD:  Well the relevance is that it is essentially the 

intentions of the Christchurch City Council and what their 

alcohol trading hours will be once the policy is adopted and 

therefore my evidence was raised in the concern that if the 

District Plan contradicted that local alcohol policy that that 

would cause conflict going forward.  

MS APPLEYARD:  Do you understand that the draft policy has 

a hearing process yet to go and it has no effect or weight 

whatsoever until a decision is issued? 

MR DODD:  I accept that it has no weight but it is an 

indication of the local authorities intentions. 

MS APPLEYARD:  As are the notified provisions of this plan 

and they can be changed by this Hearing Panel.  

MR DODD:  That is correct. 

12 The inclusion of a definition of “late night trading” in the 

replacement District Plan cannot therefore create inconsistencies 

with the LAP. 

13 For completeness, the Panel is advised that the Council is currently 

going through a process of revisiting the pLAP and has asked the 

relevant appeal authority to refer the pLAP back to it for 

reconsideration on the basis that some aspects of it are now 

considered by the Council to be “unreasonable”.  This includes 

relaxation of the 1.00am maximum hours to 3.00am within parts of 

the Central City Entertainment and Hospitality Precinct including the 

South end of Victoria Street. 

CCRP 

14 Pacific Park’s request for a definition is not inconsistent with the 

CCRP.  The Panel has included an objective for the Central City 

which uses the phrase “late night”.  The Strategic Directions Chapter 

requires clarity in the Plan and that is precisely what is being sought 



 

100173134/868587.2 4 

by Pacific Park.  The fact that the CCRP is silent on the matter does 

not bar the Panel from defining what it means by “late night” where 

that phrase has been used in provisions in the plan including in a 

key objective.  

15 In this regard, Mr Willis acknowledged the Panel’s jurisdiction:7 

MS APPLEYARD:  Now at your 6.17 you say “in my opinion 

the fact that neither the draft plan or the final plan specified 

hours of operation for businesses with the sale of alcohol was 

deliberate”. 

Are you suggesting there that this Panel has no jurisdiction to 

deal with the hours of operation for businesses for the sale of 

alcohol? 

MR WILLIS:  I am saying that the CCRP did not expressly set 

out to say these areas are suitable for 1.00 am, these areas 

area suitable for 5.00 am or anything. I think the Panel has 

got jurisdiction to consider the merits for the case and make 

a determination around their consistency or otherwise, and I 

think the district plan can cover hours if it wishes.  

MS APPLEYARD: Yes, so that is what I am trying to get to. 

You seem to be implying that because the CCRP is silent, that 

therefore it would inconsistent with that if the Panel then 

went on and made some decisions about that. Is that not 

what you are saying?  

MR WILLIS:  What I am saying is that the CCRP, the 

entertainment/hospitality precincts were not identified as an 

area, as a way to identify areas suitable for late night sale of 

alcohol. 

They were identified for principally around managing the 

interface between residential activities in a mixed use 

environment and that is what the intention was of that rule.  

MS APPLEYARD:  I understand that but we have a submitter 

asking this Panel to make some decisions and make some 

decisions which are not inconsistent with the Central City 

Recovery Plan, so what is your position on the jurisdiction 

that this Panel has?  

MR WILLIS:  Well, I think the Panel can consider it on its 

merits. 

MS APPLEYARD:  Thank you.  And do you accept that the 

Panel can make decisions around the hours of operation 

either in policy terms or rules terms of late night premises 

which sell alcohol? 

MR WILLIS:  Yes, I do. 

                                            
7 Central City transcript p105-106 
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MS APPLEYARD:  Provided that it is not inconsistent with a 

document that is silent on the topic?  

MR WILLIS:  The Panel will presumably consider a number of 

things when it makes its determination. 

16 Decisions on hours of operation of specific premises are already 

being made and have been made over the last five years in granting 

resource consents for bars to operate.  The maximum hours for the 

sale of alcohol on individual consents have varied and include 

examples of authorised trading to 4.00am (Cruz Bar in Victoria 

Street).  These decisions, to grant consent, had to be consistent 

with the CCRP. Pacific Park is not asking the Panel to do anything 

more than RMA decision makers have already been doing in 

considering resource consent applications.  This was also accepted 

at the hearing by Mr Willis:8 

MS APPLEYARD:  Would you accept that it is also the role of 

decision makers making decisions on resource consents under 

the RMA not to be consistent with the Central City Recovery 

Plan? 

MR WILLIS:  I believe that is correct, yes. 

MS APPLEYARD:  Yes, so parties who make decisions on 

resource consents, including for trading hours relating to the 

sale of liquor under the RMA, are bound by the same rules 

that this Panel is bound by in terms of not being inconsistent 

with the recovery plan? 

MR WILLIS:  I believe so. 

MS APPLEYARD:  Are you aware of how many decisions have 

been made in relation to the sale of alcohol and hours of 

trading in relation to Victoria Street since the earthquakes?  

MR WILLIS:  Not off the top of my head, I believe there have 

been probably a few that have been approved but I don’t 

know exactly how many. 

MS APPLEYARD:  So you don’t know anything about how 

many licensed premises there are in Victoria Street which 

trade between the hours of 1 am and 3 am? 

MR WILLIS:  Well, no, I don’t but this is the plan and it is 

based on earlier documents which had its genesis all the way 

back to 2011. 

MS APPLEYARD:  I understand that but those decisions - - - 

MR WILLIS:  And I am not sure about - - - 

                                            
8 Central City transcript p 106-107 
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MS APPLEYARD:  Those decisions would have to have been 

consistent with the Central City Recovery Plan, would they 

not, that decision maker would have the same constraints as 

this Panel, do you accept that? 

MR WILLIS:  Yes, I do accept that. 

MS APPLEYARD:  So it follows that on these resource consent 

decisions in order to make that decision the decision maker 

had to be satisfied that the hours of operation were not 

inconsistent with the recovery plan? 

MR WILLIS:  I think so, depending on the merits of the 

resource consent put forward. 

Context dependent  

17 Neither does Pacific Park consider it is valid to object to the inclusion 

of the definition sought on the basis that what is ‘late night’ is 

context specific and dependent on proximity to residential areas.  It 

is so obvious that it goes without saying that a decision maker 

could, after hearing from submitters, impose conditions on a grant 

of resource consent which had hours less than the default maximum 

hours of 4.00am on the basis of adverse effects on the environment.  

What Pacific Park seeks is clarity as to the objectives that the Plan is 

seeking to achieve.  

18 There also seems to be a general (but mistaken) understanding that 

the inclusion of the definition sought by Pacific Park would inhibit or 

impede upon decisions under the Sale and Supply of Alcohol Act on 

individual premises’ liquor licences:9 

MS APPLEYARD:  Are you saying that this Panel has no 

jurisdiction to include provisions which deal with the sale of 

alcohol to deal with issues that arise under the RMA such as 

amenity affects? 

MR DODD:  Absolutely not, no – I am just expressing a 

concern that if it contradicts the Local Alcohol Policy then it 

exposes the alcohol licensing process to unnecessary 

litigation. 

MS APPLEYARD:  Well I am interested in that. Can you tell me 

how that would arise? There are two decision-makers under 

two separate Acts, can you tell me how decisions under one 

Act can impact on decisions made on another?  

MR DODD:  No, I am sorry I cannot, I am not going to 

expand on that area. 

19 As explained during the Central City hearing, the definition is 

intended to provide for the Objective to relate to a range of times 

that can be described as “late night” up to 4.00am.  It is not, was 

never intended to be, and cannot be taken as providing Objective 

                                            
9 Central City transcript, p 162 
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and Policy support for all licensed premises to trade to 4.00am 

regardless of factual context and effects on the environment. 

20 Accordingly, the definition sought by Pacific Park: 

20.1 does not pre-determine the licencing regime for specific 

hospitality facilities or within precincts; rather, it provides an 

upper limit;  

20.2 would not (and could not) interfere with the ability of 

licensing committees to restrict hours through the application 

and renewal processes for on-licences under the Sale and 

Supply of Alcohol Act; and 

20.3 does not prohibit CCC from limiting the hours of operation of 

a particular premise through resource consent conditions 

because of effects on the environment, e.g. different limits 

have already been imposed through resource consents 

granted over recent years for premises in Victoria Street.  

Only one (Cruz Bar) has consent to operate to 4.00am.    

21 Operating hours of individual premises can still be determined 

through applications for resource consents and liquor licences, and 

(as is currently occurring) different hours imposed depending on the 

effects of those activities for example in relation to the proximity of 

neighbours.  

THE NEED FOR A DEFINITION 

22 Pacific Park seeks a definition of ‘late-night’ for two key reasons: 

22.1 It is necessary to further provide investment certainty to 

owners of entertainment and hospitality activities (and also 

building owners and developers reliant on entertainment and 

hospitality providers to lease their buildings) that an 

application to operate a bar within the Entertainment 

Precincts would not offend the Objective if it applied for 

resource consent to operate to 3.00am for example; and 

22.2 The term is ambiguous in itself as was apparent in the cross 

examination where every witness gave a different view of 

what were “late night” hours. 

Investment certainty 

23 Pacific Park submits a definition is necessary to provide investment 

certainty for those locating entertainment and hospitality activities 

in the relevant precincts.  This is particularly so given the history of 

the sale of alcohol provisions in the replacement District Plan 

(covered in previous submissions but briefly reiterated here): 

23.1 Pacific Park generally supported the provisions included within 

the notified version of the Central City chapter; 

23.2 The CCC planner dealing with Chapter 6, Alison McLaughlin, 

then introduced via her evidence in chief a completely new 
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policy 6.1.1.16, which effectively stated Victoria Street was 

not suitable for late night bars, because the area around 

Victoria Street was an established residential area;  

23.3 Bizarrely the scope for the policy was said to be Pacific Park’s 

own submission seeking an Investment Protection Policy 

(discussed further in Pacific Park’s chapter 6 closing legal 

submissions).  Ms McLaughlin’s new policy was seen by Pacific 

Park and other operators as the antithesis of what it was 

seeking by positively discouraging new investment and 

undermining existing investment in Victoria Street where the 

bulk of late night hospitality has invested and located since 

the Canterbury earthquakes;   

23.4 This caused consternation amongst a number of hospitality 

investors and operators who have invested in late night 

hospitality in Victoria Street since the Canterbury 

earthquakes; 

23.5 In response a significant body of evidence was filed by 

hospitality investors and operators in opposition to Ms 

McLaughlin’s new policy and in support of Pacific Park’s 

submission for the insertion of a new policy giving investment 

certainty to new and existing investors that it is not the 

intention of the CCC nor the Crown to undermine the viability 

of existing investment in late night hospitality in the Central 

City for example by requiring that investment to locate in 

other areas of the precinct, i.e. Category 1; 

23.6 After receipt of that evidence the CCC resiled from its positon 

of seeking the new policy but it is submitted that was the only 

course it could have taken as the scope issue presented an 

insurmountable hurdle to the introduction of Ms McLaughlin’s 

policy, regardless of its merits; and 

23.7 CCC and Pacific Park then cooperated on the drafting of sale 

of alcohol provisions, with only two key differences in position 

remaining (i.e. the Investment Protection Policy in Chapter 6, 

and the inclusion of this definition of “late night”).   

24 Against that background, the consequences of failing to provide 

investment certainty were addressed in the Chapter 6 evidence of 

(particularly) Richard Diver and Richard Peebles.  They were 

clear that uncertainties around opening hours (in terms of the 

Council’s intentions more generally, as opposed to in terms of 

individual liquor licences) translate into difficulties associated with 

the development and recovery of Christchurch generally: 

24.1 Mr Peebles, a property developer, was clear that 

developments are not viable without bars and restaurants, 

and that prospective tenants are declining to sign tenancies 

while there is uncertainty over potential opening hours; and 
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24.2 Mr Diver outlined that: 

(a) Construction costs in post-earthquake Christchurch are 

high; 

(b) Recouping that expense is reliant on achieving 

comparably high rental rates; 

(c) Ground floor space is generally required by CCC to be 

set aside for retail or hospitality; 

(d) Bars and licensed restaurants are generally the only 

operators that can afford to pay the going rates (and 

even then it can be difficult); and 

(e) As a result, uncertainty around hours is damaging to 

the development and recovery of Christchurch 

generally.  

25 On that basis, Pacific Park submits the inclusion of a definition is: 

25.1 consistent with Strategic Directions Objectives 3.3.1, 3.3.5, 

3.3.8 and 3.3.10; and  

25.2 consistent with the CCRP, in that the Noise and Entertainment 

Addendum provisions refers to the provisions (which 

introduced EHPs) as being to “provide certainty for both 

residential and hospitality and entertainment activities looking 

to establish there”. 

Ambiguous term 

26 A definition of ‘late-night’ would also improve the clarity to the 

provisions of the replacement District Plan in accordance with 

Objective 3.3.2. 10   

27 The difficulty in not including a definition of the term was 

demonstrated clearly during the cross examination of Mr Stevenson, 

Mr Willis, Mr Dodd and Dr Manthei.  When asked what ‘late night’ 

meant, four different times were suggested.  

28 Mr Willis thought it late night could mean both 11.00pm and 

1.00am:11 

MS APPLEYARD:  What would your definition be of late night 

sale of alcohol, which hours? 

MR WILLIS:  I think it depends on the context and probably 

the person making the decision but me, I would say my 

starting point would be anything after 11 o’clock. 

                                            
10 Evidence of Matt Bonis dated 13 January 2016 (Central City hearing), para 18 

11 Central City transcript p161  
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MS APPLEYARD:  So anything after 11 o’clock is late night 

sale of alcohol?  

MR WILLIS:  Probably more around 1-ish I suppose 

29 Mr Dodd  considered 3.00am was ‘late night’:12 

MS APPLEYARD:  Yes, okay, so what is your definition of “late 

night”? 

MR DODD:  Okay, so at the point where we made the first 

submission there was no working definition of “late night” but 

for me - - - 

MS APPLEYARD:  We are not asking you. 

MR DODD:  Yes, so for me I think - - - 

MS APPLEYARD:  And could we just put aside Victoria Street, 

just as a general proposition. 

MR DODD:  Yes, absolutely. I think the definition of late night 

that I was working to was 3.00 am because that was the 

latest period that alcohol businesses would be allowed to 

trade under the Local Alcohol Policy which is now provisional. 

30 Dr Manthei was of the belief that 1.00am was not ‘late night’, but 

that 1.01am was:13 

MS APPLEYARD: Yes, so what is your definition of the hours of 

late night trading in terms of a range? What would you 

consider to be late night? 

DR MANTHEI:  Because I am here on behalf of Victoria 

Neighbourhood Association I will answer on behalf of the 

group; we decided through extensive consultation during the 

LAP – the original LAP consultation – that for us the policy is 

that anything after 1.00 am is unacceptable.  For us it would 

be 1.00 am. 

MS APPLEYARD:  I understand that, but is 1.00 am still late 

night to you? 

DR MANTHEI:  Within our context 1.00 am is not, 1.01 am is. 

31 Furthermore:  

31.1 Mr Stevenson agreed with evidence provided by Matt Bonis 

that the lack of a definition creates ambiguity;14 and 

                                            
12 Central City transcript p 161 

13 Central City transcript p181-182 

14 Rebuttal evidence of Mark Stevenson dated 26 January 2016 (Central City hearing), 
para 12.4 
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31.2 Mr Willis agreed that a clear definition would help in 

interpreting the plan:15 

MS APPLEYARD:  Okay, so there is a question, do you 

agree that it would be preferable in terms of the 

Statement of Expectations whether there is a question 

for there to be a clear definition? 

MR WILLIS:  I think a clear definition would help in 

terms of interpreting the 40 plan, but it may be the 

wrong definition. 

MS APPLEYARD:  Yes, and I am accepting that for the 

moment. 

You have read the definition suggested by Pacific Park, 

which says 45 “until 4.00 am” is implying that means in 

every case 4.00 am; would a definition that uses the 

words “up to”, or prescribes a range, deal with your 

concerns? – to cover the possibility that in some 

precincts the number might be 1.00 am and some 

precincts it might be 2.00 am and in some it might be 

4.00 am; would that deal with your concern? 

MR WILLIS:  I think that would be much more 

preferable if the definition referred to different hours 

across the precincts, yes. 

WHAT THE DEFINITION SHOULD BE 

32 Pacific Parks submits that “late night” or “late night trading” should 

be defined as “trading up to 4.00am” or “trading until 4.00am” or 

similar wording.  

33 As outlined above, it is not intended to be interpreted as providing 

for individual bars to operate until 4.00am as a uniform rule. Rather, 

it was intended to specify to upper limit of late-night trading,16 and 

simply reflects the default national maximum trading hours for on 

licences included at section 43 of the Sale and Supply of Alcohol Act. 

34 However the wording above would give confidence to an applicant 

who applies for a resource consent to open its bar until say 3.00am 

that it did not offend the Plan’s objective or policy framework.  The 

decision as to whether the effects on the community would be 

acceptable would be left to the decision maker. 

                                            
15 Central City transcript p104 

16 Central City transcript, p295 



 

100173134/868587.2 12 

35 Pacific Park does not consider it is appropriate for a definition to 

apply different hours to different locations (including to different 

EHPs) depending on their context, as is sought by the VNA.17  The 

wording they seek is: 

Late-night: After 11:00 pm or after 1:00 am or after 3:00 am, depending 

on the location of the licensed premises, taking into account differences 

in Entertainment and Hospitality Precincts, in particular proximity to 

residential areas. 

36 Those are matters that would be taken into account at specific 

resource consent hearings. 

37 Pacific Park shares CCC’s concern that the VNA submission provides 

for a very prescriptive definition more akin to rule.18 This is 

problematic in two regards: 

37.1 it is not in keeping with the Panel’s preference for detailed 

standards being contained in rules rather than definitions 

(noting that other alternatives exist here, e.g. Pacific Park’s 

preferred wording); and 

37.2 the ‘rule’ has not been open for public input, and the 

consequences of imposing it have not been properly identified 

or discussed.  

CONCLUSION 

38 Pacific Park submits that the Panel should grant its relief, and define 

“late-night” as “until 4.00am” or “up to 4.00am” or similar to make 

it clear it is an upper limit when the Objective is read in light of the 

definition.  To do so removes ambiguity from the replacement 

District Plan and provides for investment certainty.  It is therefore 

consistent with the CCRP and Strategic Directions objectives.   

Dated:  18 August 2016 

 

JM Appleyard  

Counsel for Pacific Park Investments 

Limited 

 

 

                                            
17 Statement from the VNA dated 1 March 2016 (Definitions hearing), para 3 

18 Rebuttal evidence of Alison McLaughlin dated 10 March 2016 (General Rules hearing), 
para 6.9 


